**University of Alberta** 

# Cloning, expressing and *in vivo* characterization of human ADAR3

by

Chao Liang



Master of Science

Department of Biochemistry

Edmonton, Alberta Fall, 2008



#### Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

#### Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-47295-8 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-47295-8

## NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

### AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



# ABSTRACT

RNA transcripts undergo multiple processing events to become mature mRNA. These processes include 5' capping, 3' processing and polyadenylation, splicing and editing. RNA editing is a chemical modification occurring on nucleotides in RNA, which can change RNA secondary structure, add, delete or alter codons and create splicing sites. Deamination is one way in which nucleotides are modified and there are two types of deamination. The A-to-I deamination is the most prevalent one and has been intensively studied in the last twenty years. The enzymes catalyzing A to I conversion are known as Adenosine Deaminase that act on RNA (ADAR). There are three ADAR proteins existing in humans, ADAR1, ADAR2 and ADAR3. Among the three members, ADAR1 and ADAR2 have been well characterized but ADAR3, the most recently found one, was shown to be catalytically inactive on known substrates of ADAR1 and ADAR2 although the three ADARs have similar domain features. In this thesis, experiments were conducted to clone and over-express ADAR3. Fluorescent microscopy and FRET experiments were conducted to characterize ADAR3 in vivo. Editing experiments were also performed to study the activity of ADAR3 deaminase domain.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

There are many people I want to thank for making this thesis a reality.

I want to thank my supervisor, Dr. Andrew MacMillan. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to start my graduate study and research life in your lab. I am very grateful for all your advice on my experiments and thesis. I have learned a lot from you.

I also want to thank all my labmates, Dusin, Edyta, Emily, Matt and Tao. I am very lucky to have you guys around for discussion and suggestions. You make my life in the lab enjoyable.

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my parents and my girlfriend for without their love and support I would not be able to make it.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

## CHAPTER 1 - Introduction

INTRODUCTION
ADAR ENZYME FAMILY
Expression and regulation
Domains and structure
PHYSIOLOGICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF ADARS
ADAR SUBSTRATES
Editing in the coding regions9
Editing in non-coding regions12
Other functions of ADARs
ADAR SPECIFICITY
BIBLIOGRAPHY17

## CHAPTER 2 - Cloning, expression and in vivo characterization of human

### ADAR3

Introdu	CTION	5
Experim	ENTAL METHODS2	9
Olig	onucleotide Synthesis2	9
PCR		9
RT-F	CR	0

DNA extraction
Total RNA extraction
Mammalian expression constructs
Cell culture and transfection
Protein expression and purification
Protein isolation with TRIZOL® Reagent
Western blot
Fluorescence microscopy
Fluorescence resonance energy transfer
RESULTS
Cloning of human ADAR3 gene
Cloning of human ADAR3 gene from human amygdala cDNA
Cloning of human ADAR3 gene from total RNA of HeLa and HEK 293 cells
Cloning of human ADAR3 gene from human chromosome and IMAGE human cDNA
clone
Cloning of human ADAR3 gene from total RNA of SH-SY5Y cells
Over-expression of human ADAR341
Over-expression of human ADAR3 in HEK 293 and SH-SY5Y cells41
Cellular localization of human ADAR341
Homo and heterodimerization of ADAR3 and ADAR1, ADAR2
DISCUSSION
BIBLIOGRAPHY47

# CHAPTER 3 - In vitro Study on activity of human ADAR3 deaminase

## domain

.

INTRODUCTION
EXPERIMENTAL METHODS
Contruction of fusion protein, ADAR2/356
Cloning ADAR3 deaminase domain into p3XFLAG-CMV <sup>TM</sup> -10 vector
Cell culture
Protein expression and purification57
RNA synthesis
Editing assay
RESULTS
Over-expression of human ADAR3 deaminase domain and ADAR2/360
In vitro activity assay of ADAR3 deaminase domain and ADAR2/361
Discussion
Bibliography

# LIST OF FIGURES

## CHAPTER 1 - Introduction

Figure 1-1. Adenosine is converted to inosine by editing	
Figure 1-2. Domain structure of ADAR family	
Figure 1-3. dsRBD1 and 2 of human ADAR2 bind to different regions of R/G stem-loop RNA 10	
Figure 1-4. The X-ray structure of the catalytic domain of human ADAR210	
Figure 1-5. Q/R site on GluR-B	
Figure 1-6. RNAi pathway (miRNA pathway)14	

# CHAPTER 2 - Cloning, expression and in vivo characterization of human

### ADAR3

Figure 2-1. Domain structure of human ADAR proteins
Figure 2-2. Cloning of ADAR3 N and C terminus from human thalamus
Figure 2-3. Dividing the ADAR3 N-terminus into different fragments for cloning
Figure 2-4. Cloning of two fragments of ADAR3
Figure 2-5. Strategy to merge ADAR3 fragments together
Figure 2-6. RT-PCR from SH SY5Y and HEK 293 cells
Figure 2-7. Expression of ADAR3 in HeLa, HEK 293 cells and SH SY5Y cells
Figure 2-8. In vivo localization of ADAR3
Figure 2-9. Homodimerization of ADAR3
Figure 2-10. Heterodimerization of ADAR3 with ADAR1 and ADAR2

# CHAPTER 3 - In vitro Study on activity of human ADAR3 deaminase domain

Figure 3-1. Domain structure of human ADAR proteins
Figure 3-2. The X-ray structure of the catalytic domain of human ADAR2
Figure 3-3. Sequence alignment of deaminase domains of human ADAR1, ADAR2 and ADAR356
Figure 3-4. Over-expression of human ADAR3 deaminase domain and fusion protein ADAR2/3 in
HEK 293 cells60
Figure 3-5. 78-nucleotide R/G substrate
Figure 3-6. Editing assay of ADAR2/3 and ADAR3 deaminase protein
Figure 3-7. SAXS model of deaminase domains of ADAR2 and ADAR3

# **CHAPTER 1**

Introduction

RNA transcripts undergo multiple processing events to become mature mRNA. These processes include 5' capping, 3' processing and polyadenylation, splicing and editing. RNA editing was first discovered in trypanosomes (1) and gradually found in more animals including mammals.

RNA editing is a chemical modification occurring on nucleotides in RNA, which can create, delete or alter the meanings of codons, change RNA secondary structure, or create splicing sites. Deamination is one way in which nucleotides are modified and there are two types of deamination. One is Cytidine (C) deaminated to Uridine (U) and the other is the conversion from Adenosine (A) to Inosine (I), which base pairs with cytidine and is recognized as guanosine by the ribosome or other processing enzymes (Figure 1-1). A to I conversion is the most prevalent one and has been intensively studied in the last twenty years.

#### **1. ADAR ENZYME FAMILY**

The enzymes catalyzing A to I conversion are known as <u>A</u>denosine <u>Dea</u>minase that act on <u>RNA</u> (ADAR). ADAR activity was first discovered in *Xenopus laevis* (2-4) and since then different ADAR proteins have been cloned and characterized in both invertebrates (*Caenorbabditis elegans* and *Drosophila melanogaster*) and vertebrates (*Homo sapiens*).

The number of ADAR genes varies in different species. For example, *Drosophila* has only one ADAR gene (5) and *C. elegans* has two ADAR genes (6). In humans, three ADAR genes have been identified, ADAR1 (7), ADAR2 (8-10) and ADAR3 (11).

2



**Figure 1-1.** Adenosine is converted to inosine by editing. (A) Adenosine is converted to inosine by deamination. (B) Inosine base-pairs with cytidine, which makes inosine recognized as guanosine by ribosome and other processing enzymes.

Ribose

Ν

#### 1.1 Expression and regulation

Ribose

Human ADAR1 and ADAR2 proteins are expressed in all tissues while the expression of ADAR3 is only detected in the brain and is enriched in certain regions of the brain such as the amygdala and thalamus (11). It has been shown that the expression of ADAR proteins is highly regulated. Two isoforms of human ADAR1

have been identified. A long isoform, ADAR1L, is transcribed from an interferon -inducible promoter on *ADAR1* gene and has been found to be a cytoplasmic/nuclear protein that may be involved in response to viral infection (12, 13). A constitutive short nuclear isoform, ADAR1S, is transcribed from a downstream promoter and by alternative splicing lacks part of the N-terminal region of ADAR1L. ADAR2 expression is regulated by the transcriptional activator, cyclic-AMP-response-element binding (CREB) protein (14). However, the regulation of ADAR3 expression has not been determined.

#### 1.2 Domains and structure

All ADAR proteins share some common domain features, one to three double-stranded RNA binding domains (dsRBD) at the N-terminus and one conserved catalytic domain, the deaminase domain, at the C-terminus (Figure 1-2). As to human ADARs, ADAR1L has two Z-DNA binding domains,  $Z\alpha$  and  $Z\beta$ , at the N-terminus, three dsRBDs and one C-terminal deaminase domain, while ADAR1S has the same pattern of domains but only one Z-DNA binding domain. ADAR2 has two dsRBDs and one deaminase domain and ADAR3 has the same domains as ADAR2 with an extra arginine-rich domain (R domain) at the N-terminus.

The double-stranded RNA binding domain is a 65-70 amino acid structural motif that exists in many proteins that interact with double-stranded RNA and the family is found from prokaryotes to humans and includes diverse proteins: Dicer, Staufen, PKR and ADAR. A crystal structure of dsRBD of *Xenopus laevis* Xlrbpa with dsRNA at 1.9 Å resolution (15) was previously used to model the interaction between ADAR proteins and double-stranded RNA. The XIrbpa dsRBD is characterized by an  $\alpha$ - $\beta$ - $\beta$ - $\beta$ - $\alpha$  motif, in which two  $\alpha$  helices are packed along a face of a three-stranded antiparallel  $\beta$  sheet, and interacts with the minor groove and across the intervening major groove on one face of the dsRNA helix with a total length of 16 bp. The interactions between dsRBD and dsRNA consist of three regions: 1. interaction of the N-terminal  $\alpha$ -helix with the RNA minor groove; 2. interaction of the loop between  $\beta$ -strands 1 and 2 with the RNA minor groove; 3. the interaction of the C-terminal  $\alpha$ -helix across the RNA major groove. This data suggests that the binding of dsRBD



Figure 1-2. Domain structure of ADAR family. Green box: Z-DNA binding domain; Dark blue box: double-stranded RNA binding domain (dsRBD); Red box: arginine-rich domain; Light blue box: deaminase domain; Yellow region: linker. Human ADARs (hADAR1L- hADAR3), *Drosophila melanogaster (Dm)* ADAR, *Caenorbabditis elegans (Ce)* ADAR1 and 2 have a similar domain structure.

to double-stranded RNA is dependent on structural features but not sequence. The NMR structure of two dsRBDs of rat ADAR2 was reported in 2006 (16). The two dsRBDs, dsRBD1 and dsRBD2, adopt the  $\alpha$ - $\beta$ - $\beta$ - $\beta$ - $\alpha$  motif but differ in the orientation

of the N-terminal  $\alpha$  helix and the conformation of the  $\beta 1$ - $\beta 2$  loop. The differences result in the different substrate binding specificity of two dsRBDs. R/G stem-loop RNA was used to map the binding sites of two dsRBDs. dsRBD1 binds near a pentaloop of the substrate and dsRBD2 only binds to the stem with two A-C mismatches in the neighborhood of the editing site interacting with two cytosines (Figure 1-3), which may suggest sequence recognition in the binding of dsRBD to double-stranded RNA. The model shows that two dsRBDs bind to different structural features on R/G stem-loop RNA independently, which suggests the idea that dsRBDs of ADAR proteins play an important role in the recognition and specificity of substrates. The specificity of ADAR proteins will be discussed more below.

ADARs have a conserved C-terminal catalytic domain, the deaminase domain, which catalyzes the deamination reaction on adenosine. The X-ray structure at 1.7 Å resolution of the deaminase domain of human ADAR2 has been reported (Figure 1-4A) (17). The catalytic domain adopts a roughly spherical structure ~ 40 Å in diameter. The active site is indicated by a zinc ion coordinated by H394, C451, C516 and a water molecule bound to E396 by hydrogen bonding (Figure 1-4B). The bound water molecule is thought to displace ammonia during the deamination reaction. The location of active site is in a deep pocket and surrounded by positive electrostatic potential, which probably serves as a binding site of RNA substrates. This deep location of the active site is consistent with the idea that ADARs may use a base-flipping mechanism to expose the C6 of the adenosine for reaction. Interestingly, an IP<sub>6</sub> molecule is found to be buried deep in an extremely basic cavity formed by many arginine and lysine residues at one side of the structure. IP<sub>6</sub> is an abundant

inositol polyphosphate involved in multiple cellular functions including RNA export, DNA repair, chromatin remodeling and endocytosis (18-22) and it is reported to affect AMPA receptors, the coding mRNAs of which are substrates of ADAR2 (23). It has been shown that IP<sub>6</sub> is required for ADAR2 activity and is buried in the cavity during the folding of the domain. Thus, IP<sub>6</sub> may play an important role in the folding process of the catalytic domain.

Besides the dsRBD and the catalytic domain that all ADAR proteins possess, some ADARs have extra domains at the N-terminus which confer the ability to bind to substrates other than double-stranded RNA. The long form of human ADAR1 has two Z-DNA binding domains while the short form only has one. The first Z-DNA binding domain, Z $\alpha$ , is shown to bind to left-handed Z-form double-stranded RNA as well as Z-form DNA (24). Z-form RNA may be the result of viral replication and the binding of Z $\alpha$  domain to Z-RNA may direct ADAR1L to the viral genome, which is consistent with the fact the ADAR1L is inducible by interferon. ADAR3 has an arginine-rich domain, R domain, at its N-terminus. This very basic domain has been suggested to bind to single-stranded RNA although neither double-stranded RNA nor single-stranded RNA substrate of ADAR3 has been demonstrated (11).

#### **2.** Physiological significance of ADARs

The editing process in the coding regions of mRNAs can alter the amino acid sequences from the one coded by DNA (Table 1) as ADAR converts adenosine to inosine which is recognized by the translational machine and other processing enzymes as guanosine. Besides this, the editing process alters an A:U base pair to I:U

7

mismatch which may change the structure of double-stranded RNA to affect other processes based on the duplex RNA structure. The ability to alter the coding message of the genome and affect pathways based on RNA structure makes ADARs very important both in invertebrates and vertebrates.

Knock-out experiments on *ADAR* genes have been conducted in various animals from invertebrates to vertebrates. In invertebrates, the knock-out experiments suggest that the ADAR gene is important but not essential, that is, the deletion of ADAR gene may cause defects but is not lethal. For example, *C. elegans* that contain homozygous deletions of both *adr-1* and *adr-2* genes display defective chemotaxis (6); *Drosophila melanogaster* containing a homozygous deletion of the *adar* gene have defects in grooming, mating, tremors and locomotion, which become more severe with age, which suggests defective neural function (5). The situation is very different in mammals in which ADAR genes are essential and the deletions of different ADAR genes are lethal. Mice containing only a single allele of ADAR1 die at embryonic day 14.5 (25) and the homozygous deletion of ADAR2 causes death shortly after birth, between postnatal day 0 to 20 (26).

#### **3. ADAR** SUBSTRATES

The possession of dsRBDs confers on ADAR proteins the ability binding double-stranded RNA as substrates. There are many intrinsically formed dsRNAs that are potential substrates of ADARs. One type of dsRNA is formed in pre-mRNAs between an exon and an exon complementary sequence (ECS) in an adjacent or distant intron. The dsRNA formed by the genome or antigenome of a RNA virus can be one of the targets of ADARs too. The intrinsic hairpin RNA of precurser microRNA is also a potential ADAR target.

#### 3.1 Editing in the coding regions

#### *Glutamate receptor mRNAs*

There are multiple glutamate receptor (GluR) subunits and four subunits assemble together to form glutamate-gated ion channels, which conducts fast excitatory neurotransmission in the brain. Multiple editing sites on mRNAs of glutamate receptor subunits which occur in the coding regions have been identified (27, 28). Among all the editing sites, the Q/R site on GluR-B, which changes a glutamine (Q) to arginine (R) located in the loop forming the channel pore (Figure 1-5), is considered the most important: 99% of GluR-B mRNA is the edited form. The change lowers the Ca<sup>2+</sup> permeability of the channel. Mice with a reduced level (29) or completely lacking editing at this site (26) are born with epilepsy and die about three weeks after birth.

#### Serotonin receptor mRNAs

Serotonin is a neurotransmitter that binds to a large family of receptors. The mRNA of one subtype of serotonin receptor, 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R, which is a member of the G protein-coupled receptor superfamily is the target of ADAR. As shown in Table 1, five editing sites have been identified in the coding region of the mRNA (30, 31). The altering of amino acids caused by editing of the mRNA of this receptor results in the



**Figure 1-3.** dsRBD1 and 2 of human ADAR2 bind to different regions of R/G stem-loop RNA. dsRBD1 binds to the pentaloop and dsRBD2 specifically binds to the stem with two A-C mismatches in the neighborhood of the editing site. (Figure is adapted from Stefl R et al., Structure 2006, 14: 345-355)



Figure 1-4. The X-ray structure of the catalytic domain of human ADAR2. (A) The ribbon model of the catalytic domain of human ADAR2. (B) Residue interactions at the active site. Zinc ion, coordinating residues (H394, E396, C451, C516) and the nucleophilic water are shown.

	RNA	Codon changes
Human	GluR-B	Q/R, R/G
	GluR-C	R/G
	GluR-D	R/G
	GluR-5	Q/R
	GluR-6	Q/R, I/V, Y/C
	Serotonin receptor	I/V, I/M, N/D, N/S, N/G
HDV	HDV antigenome	Amber/W
Drosophila	Calcium channel	S/G, M/I, N/S, M/V,
		N/D, N/G, R/G
	Sodium channel	Q/R, Y/C, M/V, N/D,
		K/R, N/S
	Chloride channel	I/V, K/R, N/S

Table 1. ADAR substrates with editing sites in coding regions.



**Figure 1-5.** Q/R site on GluR-B. The editing changes codon CAG to CIG, which is recognized by ribosome as CGG resulting in the change of glutamine to arginine. The location of the arginine in a model of protein is shown on the right.

expression of up to 24 isoforms with very different efficiency with which the receptors couple to G protein. A study comparing schizophrenic and healthy brain reveals that the abundance of certain isoforms differs significantly in tissue isolated from the frontal cortex (32).

#### Hepatitis delta virus (HDV)

The genome of HDV is a circular single-stranded RNA of ~ 1700 nucleotides which replicates through an intermediate RNA: the antigenome. Both the genome and antigenome of HDV form covalent closed circles that are predicted to base-pair along the entire length. The ADAR1 targets at a single adenosine in the only expressed HDV open-reading frame, to convert an amber stop codon to a tryptophan (33). This editing results in the generation of one long viral protein, HD-Ag-L, instead of the generation of one short viral protein, HD-Ag-S, from the unedited RNA. Both proteins are required for the viral life cycle: HD-Ag-L for assembly of new viral particles and HD-Ag-S for viral replication.

#### 3.2 Editing in non-coding regions

With the hope of finding more ADAR substrates with editing sites in coding regions, a systematic way to identify inosine was applied to poly A+ RNA isolated from mixed populations of *C. elegans* (34) and rat brain (35) and a global scanning for editing sties has been conducted (36-39). Surprisingly, the results suggest most editing sites exist in non-coding regions such as 5'-UTR, 3'-UTR, Alu repeats and LINE repeats. However, the function of editing at non-coding sites is only partly understood.

#### Creating splice site

ADAR2 targets its own pre-mRNA at an AA dinucleotide to create an AI site, which is recognized by the splicing machinery as a typical AG 3' splice site (40). The creation of a new splice site results in the insertion of a 47-nucleotide fragment inducing a stop codon in mRNA, generating an 88-amino acid polypeptide lacking both dsRBDs and the catalytic domain. This editing is considered as a feedback mechanism that regulates the *in vivo* level of ADAR2 protein. So far, it is the only case in which editing is found to alter splice sites.

#### Interacting with RNAi pathway

Primary miRNAs (pri-miRNA) are encoded in the human genome and some viral genomes. The pri-miRNA consists of multiple sets of imperfect base-paired short dsRNA hairpins. Drosha and DGCR8 cleave pri-miRNA to release intermediate precursor miRNAs (pre-miRNAs), which are exported into the cytoplasm. After the cleavage of these pre-miRNAs by Dicer and TRBP, duplex RNA is generated, of which both strands of RNA can be used to silence target genes (Figure 1-6). The dsRNA structure of pri-miRNA and pre-miRNA makes them potential targets of ADAR proteins. It has been reported that editing at two specific sites of pri-miRNA-142 completely suppresses the cleavage by Drosha-DGCR8 complex (41) and editing of pri-miRNA-151 blocks the interaction of the Dicer-TRBP complex with the pre-miRNA (42). A recent report reveals that editing on miRNA sequence redirects mature miRNA to novel targets (43).

#### 3.3 Other functions of ADARs

The recent identification of proteins bound to inosine-rich RNA implies more functions of ADAR proteins. Nuclear localized protein, p54<sup>nrb</sup> can bind to

hyper-edited RNA to retain the RNA in nuclear speckles (44, 45). The identification of Vigilin in a complex formed together with ADAR1, Ku86-Ku70, and RNA helicase A suggests the potential role of ADAR protein in heterochromatin formation and gene silencing at the DNA level (46).



**Figure 1-6.** RNAi pathway (miRNA pathway). Primary miRNA (pri-miRNA) is cleaved by the complex of Drosha and DGCR8 to form pre-miRNA. pre-miRNA is exported to cytoplasm where it is further cleaved by Dicer and TRBP. The mature miRNA is loaded into RISC to bind to target genes.

#### 4. ADAR SPECIFICITY

ADARs have a wide range of specificities depending on the structure of their substrates. For long perfectly base-paired RNA, adenosines are deaminated nonselectively. For substrates that are longer than 20bp containing mismatches, bulges and loops, ADAR only catalyzes the deamination reaction at one or more specific adenosines. *In vitro* studies show that ADAR proteins have slight sequence preferences for the deaminating sites. *Xenopus* ADAR1 exhibits a preference of U=A>C>G 5' to the editing site (47) while ADAR2 has a preference of U≈A>C=G 5' to the editing site and also a preference of U=G>C=A 3' to the editing site (48). This preference for 5' and 3' adjacent nucleotides may be explained by the architecture of active site in the catalytic domain as they may both interact with the pocket which the active site locates in as mentioned above.

The neighbor preference can not thoroughly explain the specificity of ADARs on some substrates. For example, ADAR precisely catalyzes the reaction at the adenosine of the amber stop codon in HDV antigenome among more than 300 adenosines.

The two dsRBDs of rat ADAR2 have been shown to have different binding selectivity on R/G hairpin RNA based on its structure. The editing efficiency at R/G site by ADAR2 decreases dramatically when the two dsRBDs are deleted (16). Together these data suggests that the dsRBD does not only direct ADAR proteins to substrates but also plays important roles in the selectivity of ADARs. However, the catalytic domain has also been shown to play a role in the recognizing of substrates as exchanging of catalytic domains between ADAR1 and ADAR2 affects the editing

efficiency at specific sites (49). The fact that the catalytic domain alone is active *in vitro* although the efficiency is low indicates that this domain also affects selectivity (17). How ADAR acquires specificity seems to be more complicated than previously considered and both dsRBDs and the catalytic domain may be involved.

All the studies on substrate discovery and substrate specificity have been conducted on ADAR1 and ADAR2, while ADAR3 has not been extensively studied because it has been shown that ADAR3 has no catalytic activity on substrates edited by ADAR1 and ADAR2. As ADAR3 has a similar domain composition to ADAR1 and ADAR2 and is the only isoform uniquely expressed in brain, it is interesting and important to identify its substrates and explore its function. In Chapter 2, RT-PCR and PCR experiments conducted to amplify the ADAR3 gene from various sources are described and the expression of tagged ADAR3 protein in mammalian cells is explored. Fluorescence and FRET studies were conducted to study the *in vivo* localization of ADAR3 and the formation of homodimer and heterodimers with ADAR1 and ADAR2. In Chapter 3 of this thesis, ADAR3 deaminase domain and a fusion protein, ADAR3 deaminase domain with N-terminus of ADAR2, were examined for editing activity *in vitro*.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Benne R, Van den Burg J, Brakenhoff JP, Sloof P, Van Boom JH, Tromp MC.
   Major transcript of the frameshifted cox II gene from trypanosome mitochondria contains four nucleotides that are not encoded in the DNA. *Cell* 1986, 46: 819-826
- Rebagliati MR, Melton RA. Antisense RNA injections in fertilized frog eggs reveal an RNA duplex unwinding activity. Cell 1987, 48: 599-605
- Bass BL, Weintraub H. A developmentally regulated activity that unwinds RNA duplexes. Cell 1987, 48: 607-613
- Bass BL, Weintraub H. An unwinding activity that covalently modifies its double-stranded RNA substrate. Cell 1988, 55: 1089-1098
- Palladino MJ, Keegan LP, O'Connell, MA, Reenan, RA. A-to-I pre-mRNA editing in *Drosophila* is primarily involved in adult nervous system function and integrity. *Cell* 2000, 102: 437-499
- Tonkin LA, Saccomanno L, Morse DP, Brodigan T, Krause M, Bass BL. RNA editing by ADARs is important for normal behavior in *Caenorhabditis* elegans. EMBO J. 2002, 21: 6025-6035
- Kim, U, Wang Y, Sanford T, Zeng Y, Nishikura, K. Molecular cloning of cDNA for double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase, a candidate enzyme for nuclear RNA editing. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 1994, 91: 11457-11461
- Melcher T, Maas S, Herb A, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH, Higuchi M. A mammalian RNA editing enzyme. Nature 1996, 379: 460-464

- Lai F, Chen CX, Carter KC, Nishikura K. Editing of glutamate receptor B subunit ion channel RNAs by four alternatively spliced DRADA2 double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminases. Mol. Cell. Biol. 1997, 17: 2413-2424
- 10. Gerber A, O'Connell, MA, Keller W. Two forms of human double-stranded
   RNA-specific editase 1 (hRED 1) generated by the insertion of an Alu cassette.
   RNA 1997, 3: 453-463
- 11. Chen CX, Cho DS, Wang Q, Lai F, Carter KC, Nishikura K. A third member of the RNA-specific adenosine deaminase gene family, ADAR3, contains both single- and double-stranded RNA binding domains. RNA. 2000, 6: 755-767
- 12. Patterson JB, Samuel CE. Expression and regulation by interferon of a double-stranded RNA specific adenosine deaminase from human cells: evidence for two forms of the deaminase. Mol. Cell. Biol. 1995, 15: 5376-5388
- Kawakubo K, Samuel CE. Human RNA-specific adenosine deaminase (ADAR1) gene specifies transcripts that initiate from a constitutively active alternative promoter. Gene 2000, 258: 165-172
- 14. Peng PL, Zhong X, Tu W, Soundarapandian MM, Molner P, Zhu D, Lau L, Liu S, Liu F, Lu Y. ADAR2-dependent RNA editing of AMPA receptor subunit
  GluR2 determines vulnerability of neurons in forebrain ischemia. Neuron. 2006, 49: 719-733
- 15. Ryter JM, Schultz SC. Molecular basis of double-stranded RNA-protein

interactions: structure of a dsRNA-binding domain complexed with dsRNA. EMBO J. 1998, 17: 7505-7513

- 16. Stefl R, Xu M, Skrisovska L, Emeson RB, Allain FH. Structure and specific RNA binding of ADAR2 double-stranded RNA binding motifs. Structure 2006, 14: 345-355
- Macbeth MR, Schubert HL, VanDemark AP, Lingam AT, Hill CP, Bass BL.
   Inositol hexakisphosphate is bound in the ADAR2 core and required for RNA
   editing. Science 2005, 309: 1534-1539
- York JD, Odom AR, Murphy R, Ives EB, Wente SR. A phospholipase
   C-dependent inositol polyphosphate kinase pathway required for efficient
   messenger RNA export. Science 1999, 285: 96-100
- Hanakahi LA, West SC. Specific interaction of IP6 with human Ku70/80, the DNA-binding subunit of DNA-PK. EMBO J. 2002, 21: 2038-2044
- 20. Hoy M, Efanov AM, Bertorello AM, Zaitsev SV, Olsen HL, Bokvist K, Leibiger B, Leibiger IB, Zwiller J, Berggren PO, Gromada J. Inositol hexakisphosphate promotes dynamin I-mediated endocytosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2002, 99: 6773-6777
- 21. Shen X, Xiao H, Ranallo R, Wu WH, Wu C. Modulation of ATP-dependent chromatin-remodeling complexes by inositol polyphosphates. Science 2003, 299: 112-114
- 22. Steger DJ, Haswell ES, Miller AL, Wente SR, O'Shea EK. Regulation of chromatin remodeling by inositol polyphosphates. Science 2003, 299:

114-116

- 23. Valastro B, Girard M, Gagne J, Martin F, Parent AT, Baudry M, Massicotte G.
  Inositol hexakisphosphate-mediated regulation of glutamate receptors in rat
  brain sections. *Hippocampus*. 2001, 11: 673-682
- 24. Placido D, Brown BA 2<sup>nd</sup>, Lowenhaupt K, Rich A, Athanasiadis A. A left-handed RNA double helix bound by the Z alpha domain of the RNA-editing enzyme ADAR1. Structure 2007, 15: 395-404
- 25. Wang Q, Khillan J, Gadue P, Nishikura K. Requirement of the RNA editing deaminase ADAR1 gene for embryonic erythropoiesis. Science 2000, 290: 1765-1768
- 26. Higuchi M, Maas, S, Single FN, Hartner J, Rozov A, Burnashev N, Feldmeyer D, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH. Point mutation in an AMPA receptor gene rescues lethality in mice deficient in the RNA editing enzyme ADAR2. Nature 2000, 406: 78-81
- 27. Higuchi M, Single FN, Köhler M, Sommer B, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH. RNA editing of AMPA receptor subunit GluR-B: a base-paired intron-exon structure determines position and efficiency. Cell 1993, 75: 1361-1370
- 28. Seeburg PH, Hartner J. Regulation of ion channel/neurotransmitter receptor function by RNA editing. Curr. Opin, Neurobiol. 2003, 13: 279-283
- 29. Brusa R, Zimmermann F, Koh DS, Feldmeyer D, Gass P, Seeburg PH, Sprengel R.
  Early-onset epilepsy and postnatal lethality associated with an editing-deficient GluR-B allele in mice. Science 1995, 270: 1677-1680

- 30. Burns, CM, Chu H, Rueter SM, Hutchinson LK, Canton H, Sanders-Bush E, Emeson RB. Regulation of serotonin-2C receptor G-protein coupling by RNA editing. Nature 1997, 387: 303-308
- 31. Niswender CM, Sanders-Bush E, Emeson RB. Identification and characterization of RNA editing events within the 5-HT2C receptor. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 1998, 861: 38-48
- 32. Sodhi MS, Burnet PW, Makoff AJ, Kerwin RW, Harrison PJ. RNA editing of the 5-HT(2C) receptors is reduced in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2001, 6: 373-379
- 33. Polson AG, Bass BL, Casey JL. RNA editing of hepatitis delta virus antigenome by dsRNA-adenosine deaminase. *Nature* 1996, 380: 454-456
- 34. Morse DP, Bass BL. Long RNA hairpins that contain inosine are present in caenorhabditis elegans poly(A)+ RNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1999, 96: 6048-6053
- 35. Paul MS, Bass BL. Inosine exists in mRNA at tissue-specific levels and is most abundant in brain mRNA. *EMBO J.* 1998, 17: 1120-1127
- 36. Athanasiadis A, Rich A, Maas S. Widespread A-to-I RNA editing of ALu-containing mRNAs in the human transcriptome. PLoS Biol. 2004, 2: e391
- 37. Blow M, Futreal PA, Wooster R, Stratton MR. A survey of RNA editing in human brain. Genome Res. 2004, 14: 2379-2387
- 38. Kim DD, Kim TT, Walsh T, Kobayashi Y, Matise TC, Buyske S, Gabriel A.

Widespread RNA editing of embedded alu elements in the human transcriptome. Genome Res. 2004, 14: 1719-1725

- 39. Levanon EY, Eisenberg E, Yelin R, Nemzer S, Hallegger M, Shemesh R, Eligelman ZY, Shoshan A, Pollock SR, Sztybel D, Olshansky M, Rechavi G, Jantsch MF. Systematic identification of abundant A-to-I editing sites in the human transcriptome. Nat Biotechnol. 2004, 22: 1001-1005
- 40. Rueter SM, Dawson TR, Emeson RB. Regulation of alternative splicing byRNA editing. Nature 1999, 399: 75-80
- 41. Yang W, chendrimada TP, Wang Q, Higuchi M, Seeburg PH, Shiekhatter R, Nishikura K. Modulation of microRNA processing and expression through RNA editing by ADAR deaminases. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2006, 12: 13-21
- 42. Kawahare Y, Zinshteyn B, Chendrimada TP, Shiekhatter R, Nishikura K. RNA editing of the microRNA-151 precursor blocks cleavage by the Dicre-TRBP complex. *EMPO Rep.* 2007, 8: 763-769
- Kawahara Y, Zinshteyn B, sethupathy P, Iizasa H, Hatzigeorgious AG, Nishikura K. Redirection of silencing targets by adenosine-to-inosine editing of miRNAs. Science 2007, 315: 1137-1140
- 44. Kumar M, Carmichael GG. Nuclear antisense RNA induces extensive adenosine modification and nuclear retention of target transcripts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1997, 94: 3542-3547
- 45. Prasanth KV, Prasanth SG, Xuan Z, Hearn S, Freier SM, Bennett CF, Zhang MQ, Spector DL. Regulating gene expression through RNA nuclear retention.

*Cell* 2005, **123**: 249-263

- 46. Wang Q, Zhang Z, Blackwell K, Carmichael GG. Vigilins bind to promiscuously A-to-I-edited RNAs and are involved in the formation of heterochromatin. *Curr. Biol.* 2005, 15: 384-391
- 47. Polson AG, Bass BL. Preferential selection of adenosine for modification by double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase. *EMBO J.* 1994, 13: 5701-5711
- 48. Lehmann KA, Bass BL. Double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase ADAR1 and ADAR2 have overlapping specificities. *Biochemistry*. 2000, 39: 12875-12884
- 49. Wong SK, Sato S, Lazinski DW. Substrate recognition by ADAR1 and ADAR2. RNA 2001, 7: 846-858

# **CHAPTER 2**

# **Cloning, expression and** *in vivo* **characterization of human ADAR3**

#### Introduction

RNA transcripts are subject to various post-transcriptional processes including RNA editing. There are two types of single nucleotide RNA editing, cytidine to uridine and adenosine to inosine, in both of which a deamination reaction is involved. Adenosine to inosine conversion is the most prevalent editing process and has been intensively studied in the last twenty years.

Inosine is recognized by the ribosome and other processing enzymes as guanosine as it base-pairs with cytidine. The conversion of adenosine to inosine in the coding regions of an mRNA may alter the codons which will diversify the initial information encoded by DNA. Many mRNAs encoding neuronal ion channels and some viral RNAs have been shown to undergo this process. For example, there are two editing sites in the mRNA of the glutamate receptor subunit B (GluR-B), Q/R and R/G sites, of which the Q to R change affects the  $Ca^{2+}$  permeability of the channel (1-4). Five editing sites have been identified in the coding region of the mRNA of one subtype of the serotonin receptor, 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R (5, 6). The altering of amino acids caused by editing of the mRNA of this receptor results in the expression of up to 24 isoforms which differ in the efficiency with which the receptors bind to G protein. The antigenome of hepatitis delta virus is also a substrate of the editing process in which a UAG stop codon is converted to a UIG tryptophan codon (7). Editing in non-coding regions has been shown to introduce a new splicing site on pre-mRNA of rat ADAR2 (24) and the RNAi pathway (8-10).

ADARs (<u>A</u>denosine <u>Dea</u>minase that act on <u>R</u>NA) have been shown to catalyze the deamination reaction converting adenosine to inosine. ADAR activity was first described as an unwinding of double-stranded RNA (11-13). This was later found to be

25

due to non-specific deamination of RNA substrates (14). The first ADAR gene, ADAR1, was identified in both human and rat (15, 16). Subsequently, ADAR genes have been identified in species ranging from invertebrates to vertebrates. Different species possess different numbers of ADAR genes. For example, *C. elegans* has two ADAR genes (17) and *D. melanogaster* has only one ADAR (18). Three ADAR genes have been identified in humans, ADAR1, ADAR2 and ADAR3. The three human ADAR proteins have a similar domain structure that includes multiple double-stranded RNA binding domains (dsRBDs) and a conserved C-terminal catalytic domain (Figure 2-1).



**Figure 2-1**. Domain structure of human ADAR proteins. Green box: Z-DNA binding domain; Dark blue box: double-stranded RNA binding domain (dsRBD); Red box: arginine-rich domain; Light blue box: deaminase domain; Yellow region: linker.

Among the three human ADAR proteins, ADAR1 and ADAR2 are the best characterized. There are two isoforms of ADAR1. A long isoform, ADAR1L, is transcribed from an interferon-inducible promoter on the *ADAR1* gene. ADAR1L has a cytoplasmic as well as nuclear localization and may be involved in response to viral infection (19, 20). A constitutive short nuclear isoform, ADAR1S, is transcribed from a downstream promoter leading to a truncation of the N-terminal region. ADAR1 has been shown to efficiently edit the R/G site of GluR-B mRNA and the antigenome of HDV but

has a low deaminase activity on a number of specific substrates including the Q/R site of GluR-B mRNA (7, 21-23). ADAR2 has been shown to efficiently edit both the R/G and Q/R sites of GluR-B mRNA and also its own mRNA which creates a new splicing site resulting in the generation of an inactive truncated peptide (24).

ADAR3 is the most recent ADAR gene to be identified among the three human ADARs. A new ADAR gene of rat, RED2, was cloned in 1996 (25); the corresponding protein was found only in brain tissue. A human homolog of this gene, ADAR3, was identified by Nishikura and her colleagues (26). This new human ADAR protein was also shown to be only expressed in brain, especially in particular regions such as the amygdala and thalamus. This is in contrast to ADAR1 and ADAR2, which are expressed in many tissues other than the brain. ADAR3, as shown in Figure 2-1, has an extra N-terminal arginine-rich domain, which was shown to have affinity for both single-stranded RNA and double-stranded RNA. Although ADAR3 has a very similar domain structure to ADAR2 and conserved catalytic motifs, no editing of known RNA substrates by recombinant human ADAR3 purified from insect cells has been demonstrated and no substrates of ADAR3 have ever been identified (26). The activity of ADAR3 may depend on some specific factors found in human cells. Given the fact that a recent global scanning for editing sites revealed that more editing sites exist than previously predicted (27-32), it is interesting and important to explore the function and physiological role of human ADAR3. We performed RT-PCR and PCR experiments to amplify the ADAR3 gene from various sources and attempted to express the protein in human cells to examine the activity and co-factors of this protein.
As mentioned in Chapter 1, cytidines in RNA transcripts are also subject to deamination which converts cytidines to uridines. This conversion is catalyzed by cytidine deaminases (CDAs). The CDA family has many members, such as the apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide proteins (APOBEC) and E. coli cytidine deaminase (ECCDA). The composition of the catalytic center of cytidine deaminase is the same as ADARs, comprising one glutamate, one histidine and two cysteins coordinating a zinc ion. Thus, CDAs is considered to be the homolog of ADARs. The crystal structure of ECCDA has shown that the protein acts as a dimer and both monomers contribut to the active site (37). The question arises, does ADAR act as a dimer and is the dimerization RNA-independent or RNA-dependent? These questions have been addressed using different methods. ADAR2 was shown to require the formation of a homodimer to efficiently edit substrates when the *in vitro* editing of the GluR-B R/G site was examined, and the formation of this dimer was originally concluded to be RNA-dependent (33). An experiment carried out by purifying recombinant, tagged human ADAR1 and ADAR2 showed that both of the two proteins can form homodimers but not heterodimers and the formation of the homodimers was RNA-independent (34). In vivo fluorescent resonance energy transfer (FRET) studies with human ADAR1 and ADAR2 from insect cells confirmed that the dimerization of ADAR1 and ADAR2 was RNA-independent. However, the two proteins were also shown to form heterodimers (35), which suggested that ADARs could expand their range of substrates by forming heterodimers. One hypothesis about ADAR3's potential function is that it may compete with ADAR1 and ADAR2 for binding to substrates and thus inhibit the editing by ADAR1 and ADAR2 (26). It is also possible that ADAR3 may form heterodimers with

ADAR1 and ADAR2 and catalyze editing on unknown substrates as ADAR3 has been shown to be able to bind to single-stranded RNAs but no editing activity on known substrates of ADAR1 and ADAR2 has been demonstrated. To verify this hypothesis, the cyan and yellow fluorescent proteins (CFP and YFP) were used to tag human ADAR3 at the N-terminus and FRET experiments were conducted.

#### **EXPERIMENTAL METHODS**

#### **Oligonucleotide Synthesis**

All oligonucleotides were purchased from the University of Alberta DNA Core Services Laboratory.

#### PCR

PCR reactions were performed using Platinum® Pfx DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen) in a 50 µl reaction mix containing 1 X Pfx amplification buffer, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10% DMSO, 1 X PCR enhancer, 200 µM of each dNTP, 500 nM of each primer. The thermal cycle used was as follows: (1) 3 min at 94°C, (2) 30 sec at 94°C, (3) 30 sec at 55°C, (4) 2.5 min at 68°C, (5) 30 sec at 94°C, (6) 30 sec at 54°C, (7) 2.5 min at 68°C, (8) 30 sec at 94°C, (9) 30 sec at 53°C, (10) 2.5 min at 68°C, (11) 30 sec at 94°C, (12) 30 sec at 52°C, (13) 2.5 min at 68°C, (15) 30 sec at 94°C, (16) 30 sec at 51°C, (17) 2.5 min at 68°C, (18) 30 sec at 94°C, (19) 30 sec at 50°C, (20) 2.5 min at 68°C, (21) go back to step (18) and repeat for 30 cycles, (22) 10 min at 68°C, (23) End cycle.

#### **RT-PCR**

Total RNA extracts from human brain tissue (Alberta Tumor Bank), HeLa cells, HEK 293 cells and SH-SY5Y cells were used as templates to synthesize cDNA. 3 μg of total RNA extract was used in each reaction. Reactions were performed using the ThermoScript<sup>TM</sup> RT-PCR System (Invitrogen). PCR reactions using synthesized cDNAs as templates were performed using the cycles described above.

#### **DNA** extraction

Human HeLa cells were plated in 10 cm tissue culture dishes and allowed to adhere and grow up to 90% confluence. Cells were then collected and centrifuged for 10 min at 10°C (1200 rpm). The supernatant was removed and the cell pellet was resuspended and washed in 10 ml 1 X PBS twice, and centrifuged between washes. The pellet was then resuspended in 10 ml DNA buffer (200 mM Tris-HCl, 100 mM EDTA, pH 8.0) and centrifuged for 10 min at 10°C (1200 rpm). The pellet was saved, resuspended in 3 ml DNA buffer with 125 µl Protease K (10 mg/ml) and 400 µl 10% SDS, and incubated overnight at 45°C. Phenol (3.6 ml) was added to the solution which was mixed by shaking by hand for 10 min at room temperature. The solution was then centrifuged for 10 min at 10°C (3000 rpm). The supernatant was transferred into a new tube (15 ml). An equal volume of phenol/chloroform/isoamylalcohol (25:24:1) was added to the supernatant. The mixture then was shaken for 10 min at room temperature and centrifuged for 10 min at 10°C (3000 rpm). The supernatant was transferred to a new tube and a 1/10 volume 3 M sodium acetate (pH 5.2) and 3 volumes 100% isopropanol were added to the supernatant. The mixture was shaken gently until the DNA precipitated. The precipitated DNA was then transferred into a tube with 30 ml 70% ethanol using a sterile glass pipette. The tube was then placed on an inverting rack and inverted for 2 hours until the DNA was thoroughly rinsed. The DNA was then transferred to a sterile eppendorf tube and centrifuged for 20 min at 14,000 rpm. The pellet of DNA was then dried in a SpeedVac for 5 min and dissolved in 500 µl sterile water by shaking overnight at 37°C. The concentration of the extracted DNA was measured using a HP 8451A Diode Array Spectrophotometer.

#### **Total RNA extraction**

Total RNA was extracted using the RNAspin Mini RNA isolation kit (GE Healthcare) following the manufacturer's protocol. The concentration of extracted total RNA was measured using a HP 8451A Diode Array Spectrophotometer. The purity and integrity of extracted total RNA were determined by measuring the ratio of absorbance at 260 and 280 nm and running a denaturing agarose gel.

#### Mammalian expression constructs

DNA encoding human ADAR3 was amplified by PCR and cloned into expression vectors and CFP/YFP fusion vectors as below:

	Primers used	Restriction
Vector		sites
pECFP-C1	Forward: 5'-GCGCAGATCTATGGCCTCGGTCCTGG-3'	Bgl II,
(Clonetech)	Reverse: 5'-GCGCGCAAGCTTCTAGAGAGTCAGTAGAAAC-3'	Hind III

pEYFP-C1	Forward: 5'-GCGCAGATCTATGGCCTCGGTCCTGG-3'	Bgl II,
(Clonetech)	Reverse: 5'-GCGCGCAAGCTTCTAGAGAGTCAGTAGAAAC-3'	Hind III
p3XFLAG-	Forward: 5'-GCTAAAGCTTATGGCCTCGGTCCTG-3'	
CMV <sup>™</sup> -10	Reverse: 5'-GCGCGTTCTAGACTAGAGAGTCAGTAGAAACTGC-3'	Hind III,
(Sigma)		Xba I
(Sigina)		

#### Cell culture and transfection

Human HeLa cells, HEK 293 cells and SH-SY5Y cells were used for protein expression and fluorescent experiments. HeLa and HEK 293 cells were cultured as a monolayer in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. SH-SY5Y cells were cultured in a mix of 50% DMEM and 50% F12 medium with 10% FBS at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

For fluorescence experiments, cells  $(2 \times 10^5)$  were plated on 25 mm coverslips in six-well tissue culture dishes and allowed to adhere for 24 hours. The cells were then transiently transfected with 1 µg plasmid using Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol and analyzed 24 hours post-transfection.

To create stable cell lines expressing ADAR3, cells were plated and transfected as described above. G418 disulfate salt solution (200  $\mu$ l) (50 mg/ml) was added into the medium 24 hours post-transfection. The medium containing G418 was changed every 3-4 days for two weeks. Single colonies of cells were plated in 10 cm tissue culture dishes separately to examine the expression level of ADAR3.

#### Protein expression and purification

ADAR3 was cloned into the p3XFLAG-CMV<sup>TM</sup>-10 vector for over-expression in human cells. Cells were plated in 10 cm tissue culture dishes and transiently transfected with 8 µg plasmid DNA using Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol and harvested 24 hours post-transfection. Cells were incubated in 500 µl lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton-X100, pH 7.4) for 30 min and centrifuged for 10 min at 150,000 g. The supernatant was then incubated with 20 µl ANTI-FLAG<sup>®</sup> M2 affinity gel (Invitrogen) (prepared according to the manufacturer's protocol) for 2 hours and centrifuged for 30 sec at 8,000 g. The supernatant was discarded and the tagged protein was then eluted by incubating the gel with 40 µl wash buffer (50 mM Tris, 200 mM NaCl, pH 7.4) with 150 ng/µl 3 X FLAG peptide for 30 min and centrifuged for 1 min at 8,000 g.

### Protein isolation with TRIZOL<sup>®</sup> Reagent

Human HeLa, HEK 293 and SH SY5Y cells ( $2 \times 10^5$ ) were plated in six-well tissue culture dishes and allowed to adhere for 24 hours. The cells were then transiently transfected with 1 µg plasmid using Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer's protocol and analyzed 24 hours post-transfection.

TRIZOL<sup>®</sup> reagent of 1 ml was added to each well and then transferred into a 1.5 ml eppendorf tube. The solution was then mixed well with 0.2 ml chloroform and incubated at room temperature for 2-3 min and centrifuged at 120,000 g for 8 min at 4°C. The lower phase was then transferred to a new 1.5 ml eppendorf tube and mixed well with 0.3 ml 100% ethanol, incubated at room temperature for 2-3 min and centrifuged at 2,000 g for 5

min. The supernatant was transferred to a new 2 ml eppendorf tube and mixed with 1.5 ml isopropanol, incubated at room temperature for 10 min and centrifuged at 120,000 g for 10 mins at 4°C. The pellet was then rinsed in 1 ml 95% ethanol with 0.3 M GuHCl and incubated at room temperature for 20 min and centrifuged at 7,500 g at 4°C for 5 min. The pellet was washed in the same solution twice more and then washed in 1 ml 100% ethanol and centrifuged at 7,500 g at 7,500 g at room temperature. The pellet was then dried by vacuum and resuspended in 100  $\mu$ l ddH<sub>2</sub>O with 1% SDS and shaken at 37 °C overnight to dissolve.

The concentration of isolated protein was determined by using Biorad Protein Assay. 10 μg of total protein was loaded for SDS-PAGE and Western blot.

#### Western blot

A Western blot was performed after gel electrophoresis. The proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose or PVDF membranes using a transfer buffer (3.03 g Tris, 14.4 g glycine, 200 ml methanol, 0.05% SDS in 1 L ddH<sub>2</sub>O). The membrane was then washed twice (10 min each) in 20 ml 1 X TBST buffer (20 mM Tris, 137 mM NaCl, 0.1 % Triton X-100, pH 7.6) at room temperature and blocked in 50 ml 1 X TBST with 5% milk powder at 4°C overnight. The membrane was washed in 20 ml 1 X TBST buffer three times (10 min each). For Flag-tagged protein detection, the membrane was probed in 10 ml 1 X TBST with 1:1000 diluted Monoclonal ANTI-FLAG<sup>®</sup> M2-Peroxidase (HRP) (Sigma) for 1 hour at room temperature. The membrane was then washed twice in 1 X TBST (5 min each) and developed using commercial detection reagents (Amersham).

#### Fluorescence microscopy

Transiently transfected cells which were seeded on coverslips were washed 3 times in PBS and fixed for 15 min in freshly made 4% formaldehyde (Sigma) at room temperature. The coverslips were washed 3 times in PBS and then mounted on slides using DAPI solution (90% glycerol, 10% PBS and 1µg/ml DAPI). Images were collected with a Zeiss Laser Scanning Confocal Microscope (LSM 510 NLO Meat). The 514 and 458 nm laser lines were used to image YFP and CFP. Band pass filters of 580-612 nm and 462-484 nm were used in collecting emission from YFP and CFP respectively.

#### Fluorescence resonance energy transfer

Transiently transfected cells which were seeded on coverslips were washed 3 times in PBS and fixed for 15 min in freshly made 4% formaldehyde (Sigma) at room temperature. The coverslips were washed 3 times in PBS and then mounted on slides using a mounting solution (90% glycerol, 10% PBS). FRET experiments were conducted using the donor recovery after acceptor photobleach method (36). The images were obtained in the CFP and YFP channels first and the intensity of each signal was calculated. YFP was then photobleached to 20% of its original fluorescence at 514 nm in a defined region. A second set of images was taken after the photobleaching as before and intensity was calculated. FRET efficiency was calculated as below:

FRET efficiency =  $(D_{post} - B_{post}) - (D_{pre} - B_{pre})/(D_{post} - B_{post})$ 

where D is the donor channel (CFP) intensity, B is the background intensity, and pre and post refer to measurements made before and after photobleaching. A non-bleached region of the same cell was used as an internal control.

#### RESULTS

#### 1. Cloning of human ADAR3 gene

#### 1.1 Cloning of human ADAR3 gene from human amygdala cDNA

As human ADAR3 was demonstrated to be enriched in the amygdala and thalamus (26), we hoped to amplify full-length ADAR3 gene from human amygdala cDNA (USBiological), which failed. The cloning strategy was then changed to divide the ADAR3 gene into two parts, the N-terminus and C-terminus, and clone them separately. We succeeded in cloning the C-terminus but not N-terminus (Figure 2-2).

#### 1.2 Cloning of human ADAR3 gene from total RNA of HeLa and HEK 293 cells

As shown in Figure 2-3, we divided ADAR3 N-terminus into different fragments and tried to amplify these fragments from total RNA of HeLa and HEK 293 cells but none of the fragments were successfully amplified.

## 1.3 Cloning of human ADAR3 gene from human chromosome and IMAGE human cDNA clone

Human ADAR3 has been shown to be located on chromosome 16q and the Nterminal fragment of ADAR3 is composed of three exons. As shown in Figure 2-4, fragment 1-279 (fragment 1) was amplified from an IMAGE human cDNA clone (Clone ID 2296958) and fragment 279-1084 (fragment 2) was amplified from genomic DNA extracted from HeLa cells. Fragment 1 was first cloned into the pCR<sup>®</sup>4-TOPO vector (Invitrogen), and then cut out with BamH I and EcoR I and cloned into the pGEX 6p1 vector (GE Healthcare) using the same restriction enzymes. Fragment 2 was cloned into pGEX 6p1 with fragment 1 cut by Asc I and EcoR I. The ADAR3 C-terminus was subsequently cloned into the this vector using EcoR I and Xba I (Figure 2-5). The sequence of the full-length ADAR3 gene was verified by plasmid sequencing.



**Figure 2-2.** Cloning of ADAR3 N and C terminus from human thalamus cDNA. Left: 1% agarose gel of PCR products of ADAR3 N and C terminus from human thalamus cDNA. 1 Kb Plus DNA Ladder (Invitrogen) was used as a marker. Right: ADAR3 N-terminus and C-terminus. The numbers above refer to nucleotide numbers corresponding to the beginning and end of two fragments.



**Figure 2-3**. Dividing the ADAR3 N-terminus into different fragments for cloning. The numbers refer to nucleotide numbers corresponding to the beginning and end of indicated fragments.





**Figure 2-4.** Cloning of two fragments of ADAR3. A. Exons of human ADAR3 N-terminus in chromosome 16. ADAR3 N-terminus consists of three exons located on chromosome 16. The red boxes indicate exons and blue ones indicate introns and 5' untranslated region. The numbers above are nucleotide numbers of ADAR3 mRNA. B. Left: Cloning of fragment 2 (279-1084) of ADAR3 N-terminus from chromosome. 1 Kb Plus DNA Ladder (Invitrogen) was used as a marker. Right: Cloning of fragment 1 (1-279) of ADAR3 N-terminus from IMAGE clone of human cDNA. O'GeneRuler<sup>TM</sup> 100 bp DNA Ladder (Fermentas) was used as a marker. Red boxes indicate the fragments of the appropriate size.



Figure 2-5. Strategy to merge ADAR3 fragments together. Red: intrinsic restriction enzyme sites on ADAR3 gene. Black: introduced restriction enzyme sites. A. Three fragments of ADAR3 are shown with nucleotide number shown on the left. B. fragment 1 is cloned into  $pCR^@4$ -TOPO vector. C. fragment 1 is cut off  $pCR^@4$ -TOPO vector and cloned into pGEX 6p1 vector. D. fragment 2 is cloned into pGEX 6p1 vector with fragment 1 cloned in. E: fragment 3 is cloned into pGEX 6p1 vector with fragment1 and 2 cloned in. F: Full-length ADAR3 gene is cloned into pGEX 6p1 vector.



**Figure 2-6.** RT-PCR from SH SY5Y and HEK 293 cells. A. RT-PCR of ADAR3 C-terminus (~1120 bp) from total RNA extracted from HEK 293 and SH SY5Y cells. Lanes 1-6 are RT-PCR performed under different conditions using total RNA from HEK 293 cells and lanes 7-12 are RT-PCR performed under the same condition changing the template to total RNA from SH SY5Y cells. Red box shows the expected product. B. Right lane: RT-PCR of full-length ADAR3 gene (2220 bp) from total RNA extracted from SH SY5Y cells. O'GeneRuler<sup>TM</sup> Express DNA Ladder (Fermentas) was used as a marker.

#### 1.4 Cloning of human ADAR3 gene from total RNA of SH-SY5Y cells

ADAR3 has previously been reported to be only detected in postmitotic neurons (26). To confirm the transcription of full length ADAR3 mRNA, we used total RNA extract from SH-SY5Y cells, a third generation of neuroblastoma, as template to perform RT-PCR. As shown in Figure 2-6, both the ADAR3 C-terminus and full-length ADAR3 were amplified by RT-PCR from total RNA extract of SH SY5Y cells but not from HEK 293 cells. Sequencing revealed a mutation occurring on the RT-PCR product that cysteine at 490 was mutated to tyrosine.

#### 2. Over-expression of human ADAR3

#### 2.1 Over-expression of human ADAR3 in HEK 293 and SH-SY5Y cells

ADAR3 was cloned into the p3XFLAG-CMV<sup>™</sup>-10 vector for over-expression in human cell lines. Transient transfection of ADAR3 was conducted with HeLa, HEK 293 and SH SY5Y cells. Total protein was isolated using TRIZOL<sup>®</sup> reagent and Western blot was then performed to detect the expression of ADAR3 protein (Figure 2-7).



**Figure 2-7.** Expression of ADAR3 in HeLa, HEK 293 cells and SH SY5Y cells. Lane 1: ADAR2 over-expressed in HEK 293 cells using  $p3XFLAG-CMV^{TM}-10$  vector. Lane 2-4: ADAR3 over-expressed using  $p3XFLAG-CMV^{TM}-10$  vector in HEK 293, SH SY5Y and HeLa cells respectively. The expression of full-length ADAR3 can be detected in HeLa and HEK 293 cells with degradation. In SH SY5Y cell, ADAR3 was totally degraded.

#### 3. Cellular localization of human ADAR3

Human ADAR1 and ADAR2 have been shown to localize predominantly in the nucleolus (35). We wanted to determine the localization of ADAR3 in living cells. ADAR3 was cloned into the pECFP-C1 vector used for transient transfection of human HEK 293 cells. Expression of CFP-ADAR3 was at almost the same level in experiments

involving CFP-ADAR1 or CFP-ADAR2. ADAR3 exhibited a predominantly nucleolar localization similar to ADAR1 and ADAR2 (Figure 2-8).

#### 4. Homo and heterodimerization of ADAR3 and ADAR1, ADAR2

Human ADAR1 and ADAR2 have been shown to be able to form not only homodimers but also heterodimers with each other in vivo by FRET (35). Given the similarity of domain structure among the three human ADARs, we wanted to determine whether ADAR3 can form either homo or heterodimers with the other two active enzymes. ADAR3 was cloned into the pECFP-C1 and pEYFP-C1 vectors encoding Nterminal CFP and YFP respectively. We prepared a combination of vectors used for cotransfection and FRET experiments as follows: CFP-ADAR3/YFP-ADAR3, CFP-ADAR3/YFP-ADAR1 and CFP-ADAR3/YFP-ADAR2. We observed 19.2±3.2% FRET efficiency for CFP-ADAR3/YFP-ADAR3 (Figure 2-9) compared to the FRET efficiency of 21.3±1.2% measured in an experiment using tandem CFP-YFP joined by a short ten amino acid linker (data not shown). A FRET efficiency of  $16.5\pm1.0\%$  and  $17.3\pm1.9\%$ were measured for CFP-ADAR3/YFP-ADAR1 (Figure 2-10 A) and CFP-ADAR3/YFP-ADAR2 (Figure 2-10 B) respectively. Compared with the data from FRET experiments on ADAR1 and ADAR2 dimerization, our data strongly suggested that ADAR3 forms homodimer as well as heterodimers with both ADAR1 and ADAR2.



**Figure 2-8.** *In vivo* localization of ADAR3. A. DAPI image of HeLa nuclei. B. Confocal fluorescence imaging of CFP-ADAR3 in transfected HeLa cells. C. Merged image shows that ADAR3 localizing to the regions of faint DAPI signal which correspond to nucleoli.



**Figure 2-9.** Homodimerization of ADAR3. A. Confocal fluorescence imaging of HeLa cells cotransfected with CFP-ADAR3 and YFP-ADAR3. Direct excitation of CFP was performed using a 458 nm laser line. Emissions of CFP filtered at 463-484 nm (top panels), emissions of YFP filtered at 570-612 nm (middle panels) and merge (bottom panels) are shown. Images were taken before (left panels) and after (right panels) specifically photobleaching YFP within a nucleolus of the cell. B. Quantification of CFP and YFP signals of images taken before and after photobleaching (indicated by the arrow). CFP fluorescence is shown for the photobleached nucleolus (open triangles) and a nonphotobleached nucleolus (closed triangles). YFP fluorescence is shown for the photobleached nucleolus (open squares) and a non-photobleached nucleolus (closed squares). Quantifications corresponding to images at left are indicated ( $\diamondsuit$ ,  $\bigstar$ ).

#### DISCUSSION

Although ADAR3 shares a similar domain structure and possesses the conserved catalytic motifs of ADAR1 and ADAR2, it seems to be a very special member of the human ADAR family. ADAR3 is the only family member in which expression is restricted to the brain and enriched in certain regions. It has been shown to have no catalytic activity on known substrates of ADAR1 and ADAR2, although it can bind to these substrates and inhibit the activity of the other two enzymes. The demonstration that ADAR3 protein is only detected in postmitotic neurons and the fact that most RNA substrates of ADARs are neural-specific RNA indicate that ADAR3 may act on some specific substrates in neuron cells and this function may require specific co-factors in neuron cells.

Nothing has been reported with respect to human ADAR3 since the initial paper describing the protein published in 2000 (26). Our experience with cloning of ADAR3 may explain why so little work has been done with ADAR3. The difficulty amplifying mRNA of ADAR3 is either a reflection of low/tissue specific expression or instability of the message. The degradation of ADAR3 in all three human cell lines we have, HeLa, HEK 293 and SH-SY5Y, which were good for the over-expression of ADAR1 and ADAR2, indicated the instability of this protein probably because of its toxicity to cells. Toxicity of ADAR3 could be due to an ADAR3 editing activity or competition of ADAR3 (either alone or in heterodimer combinations) for endogenous ADAR1/ADAR2 substrates thus inhibiting required editing activity. ADAR3 has been shown to be able to compete with ADAR1 and ADAR2 for binding to substrates and thus regulate the editing. The FRET experiments reported here have shown for the first time that ADAR3 can form homodimers *in vivo*, similar to ADAR1 and ADAR2 and also heterodimers with ADAR1 and ADAR2. The formation of heterodimers among different members of ADAR family has been suggested as a mechanism of expanding/modulating editing activity of ADAR family members. The formation of heterodimers of ADAR3 with ADAR1 and ADAR2 suggests that ADAR 1 and ADAR2 might edit unknown doublestranded RNA substrates or even single-stranded RNA substrates. Although ADAR3 has been shown to be inactive on known substrates, the results reported here suggest that the activity of heterodimers of ADAR3 with ADAR1 and ADAR2 should be examined in the future.

ADAR3 has a similar domain structure to ADAR2 but ADAR3 has an extra Nterminal arginine-rich domain, which is suggested to bind to single-stranded RNA. The deletion of the arginine-rich domain did not make rat ADAR3 active on known substrates (25). Although the three members of human ADAR family share conserved catalytic motifs, the difference in regions beyond the motifs may result in different tertiary structure that affects the activity, At this point, a high resolution structure of full-length ADAR3 or the catalytic domain of ADAR3 will help to explain why ADAR3 is so special.

45



**Figure 2-10.** Heterodimerization of ADAR3 with ADAR1 and ADAR2. A. Heterodimerization of ADAR3 and ADAR1. Confocal fluorescence imaging of HeLa cells co-transfected with CFP-ADAR3 and YFP-ADAR1. Direct excitation of CFP was performed using a 458 nm laser line. Emissions of CFP filtered at 463-484 nm (top panels), emissions of YFP filtered at 570-612 nm (middle panels) and merge (bottom panels) are shown. Images were taken before (left panels) and after (right panels) specifically photobleaching YFP within a nucleolus of the cell. Quantification of CFP and YFP signals of images taken before and after photobleaching (indicated by the arrow). CFP fluorescence is shown for the photobleached nucleolus (open triangles) and a non-photobleached nucleolus (closed triangles). YFP fluorescence is shown for the photobleached nucleolus (open squares) and a non-photobleached nucleolus (closed squares). Quantifications corresponding to images at left are indicated ( $\blacklozenge$ ,  $\bigstar$ ). B. Heterodimerization of ADAR3 and ADAR2. Confocal fluorescence imaging of HeLa cells co-transfected with CFP-ADAR3 and YFP-ADAR2. The images and quantification were done as the same of the experiment of ADAR1 and ADAR3.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Higuchi M, Single FN, Köhler M, Sommer B, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH. RNA editing of AMPA receptor subunit GluR-B: a base-paired intron-exon structure determines position and efficiency. *Cell* 1993, 75: 1361-1370.
- Seeburg PH, Hartner J. Regulation of ion channel/neurotransmitter receptor function by RNA editing. Curr. Opin, Neurobiol. 2003, 13: 279-283.
- Lomeli H, Mosbacher J, Melcher T, Hoger T, Geiger JR, Kuner T, Monyer H, Higuchi M, Bach A, Seeburg PH. Control of kinetic properties of AMPA receptor channels by nuclear RNA editing. Science 1994, 266: 1709-1713
- Sommer B, Kohler M, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH. RNA editing in brain controls a determinant of ion flow in glutamate-gated channels. *Cell* 1991, 67: 11-19.
- Burns, CM, Chu H, Rueter SM, Hutchinson LK, Canton H, Sanders-Bush E, Emeson RB. Regulation of serotonin-2C receptor G-protein coupling by RNA editing. *Nature* 1997, 387: 303-308.
- Niswender CM, Sanders-Bush E, Emeson RB. Identification and characterization of RNA editing events within the 5-HT2C receptor. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 1998, 861: 38-48.
- Polson AG, Bass BL, Casey JL. RNA editing of hepatitis delta virus antigenome by dsRNA-adenosine deaminase. *Nature* 1996, 380: 454-456.
- Yang W, chendrimada TP, Wang Q, Higuchi M, Seeburg PH, Shiekhatter R, Nishikura K. Modulation of microRNA processing and expression through RNA editing by ADAR deaminases. *Nat Struct Mol Biol.* 2006, 12: 13-21.

- Kawahare Y, Zinshteyn B, Chendrimada TP, Shiekhatter R, Nishikura K. RNA editing of the microRNA-151 precursor blocks cleavage by the Dicre-TRBP complex. EMPO Rep. 2007, 8: 763-769.
- Kawahara Y, Zinshteyn B, sethupathy P, Iizasa H, Hatzigeorgious AG, Nishikura K.
   Redirection of silencing targets by adenosine-to-inosine editing of miRNAs. Science 2007, 315: 1137-1140.
- 11. Rebagliati MR, Melton RA. Antisense RNA injections in fertilized frog eggs reveal an RNA duplex unwinding activity. Cell 1987, 48: 599-605.
- 12. Bass BL, Weintraub H. A developmentally regulated activity that unwinds RNA duplexes. *Cell* 1987, 48: 607-613.
- Bass BL, Weintraub H. An unwinding activity that covalently modifies its double-stranded RNA substrate. *Cell* 1988, 55: 1089-1098.
- 14. Polson AG, Crain PF, Pomerantz SC, McCloskey JA, Bass BL. The mechanism of adenosine to inosine conversion by the double-stranded RNA unwinding/modifying activity: a high-performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry analysis. *Biochemistry* 1991, **30**: 11507-11514.
- 15. Kim U, Wang Y, Sanford T, Zeng Y, Nishikura K. Molecular cloning of cDNA for double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase, a candidate enzyme for nuclear RNA editing. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1994, 91: 11457-11461.
- 16. O'Connell MA, Krause S, Higuchi M, Hsuan JJ, Totty NF, Jenny A, Keller W. Cloning of cDNAs encoding mammalian double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1995, 15: 1389-1397
- 17. Tonkin LA, Saccomanno L, Morse DP, Brodigan T, Krause M, Bass BL. RNA

editing by ADARs is important for normal behavior in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *EMBO J.* 2002, **21**: 6025-6035.

- 18. Palladino MJ, Keegan LP, O'Connell, MA, Reenan, RA. A-to-I pre-mRNA editing in *Drosophila* is primarily involved in adult nervous system function and integrity. *Cell* 2000, 102: 437-499.
- 19. Patterson JB, Samuel CE. Expression and regulation by interferon of a doublestranded RNA specific adenosine deaminase from human cells: evidence for two forms of the deaminase. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 1995, **15**: 5376-5388.
- 20. Kawakubo K, Samuel CE. Human RNA-specific adenosine deaminase (*ADAR1*) gene specifies transcripts that initiate from a constitutively active alternative promoter. *Gene.* 2000, **258**: 165-172.
- 21. Maas S, Melcher T, Herb A, Seeburg PH, Keller W, Krause S, Higuchi M, O'Connell MA. Structural requirements for RNA editing in glutamate receptor premRNAs by recombinant double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase. J Biol Chem. 1996, 271: 12221-12226.
- 22. Hurst SR, Hough RF, Aruscavage PJ, Bass BL. Deamination of mammalian glutamate receptor RNA by Xenopus dsRNA adenosine deaminase: similarities to in vivo RNA editing. *RNA* 1995, 1: 1051-1060.
- 23. Herb A, Higuchi M, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH. Q/R site editing in kainate receptor GluR5 and GluR6 pre-mRNAs requires distant intronic sequences. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1996, 93: 1875-1880.
- 24. Rueter SM, Dawson TR, Emeson RB. Regulation of alternative splicing by RNA editing. Nature 1999, 399: 75-80.

- 25. Melcher T, Maas S, Herb A, Sprengel R, Higuchi M, Seeburg PH. RED2, a brain-specific member of the RNA-specific adenosine deaminase family. J Biol Chem. 1996, 271: 31795-31798.
- 26. Chen CX, Cho DS, Wang Q, Lai F, Carter KC, Nishikura K. A third member of the RNA-specific adenosine deaminase gene family, ADAR3, contains both singleand double-stranded RNA binding domains. *RNA* 2000, 6: 755-767.
- 27. Morse DP, Bass BL. Long RNA hairpins that contain inosine are present in caenorhabditis elegans poly(A)+ RNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 1999, 96: 6048-6053.
- 28. Paul MS, Bass BL. Inosine exists in mRNA at tissue-specific levels and is most abundant in brain mRNA. *EMBO J.* 1998, 17: 1120-1127.
- 29. Athanasiadis A, Rich A, Maas S. Widespread A-to-I RNA editing of ALucontaining mRNAs in the human transcriptome. *PLoS Biol.* 2004, 2: e391.
- Blow M, Futreal PA, Wooster R, Stratton MR. A survey of RNA editing in human brain. Genome Res. 2004, 14: 2379-2387.
- 31. Kim DD, Kim TT, Walsh T, Kobayashi Y, Matise TC, Buyske S, Gabriel A.
  Widespread RNA editing of embedded alu elements in the human transcriptome. Genome Res. 2004, 14: 1719-1725.
- 32. Levanon EY, Eisenberg E, Yelin R, Nemzer S, Hallegger M, Shemesh R, Eligelman ZY, Shoshan A, Pollock SR, Sztybel D, Olshansky M, Rechavi G, Jantsch MF. Systematic identification of abundant A-to-I editing sites in the human transcriptome. Nat Biotechnol. 2004, 22: 1001-1005.
- 33. Jaikaran DC, Collins CH, MacMillan AM. Adenosine to inosine editing by ADAR2

requires formation of a ternary complex on the GluR-B R/G site. J Biol Chem. 2002, 277: 37624-37629.

- 34. Cho DS, Yang W, Lee JT, Shiekhattar R, Murray JM, Nishikura K. Requirement of dimerization for RNA editing activity of adenosine deaminase acting on RNA. J Biol Chem. 2003, 278: 17093-17102.
- 35. Chilibeck KA, Wu T, Liang C, Schellenberg MJ, Gesner EM, Lynch JM, MacMillan AM. FRET analysis of in vivo dimerization by RNA-editing enzymes. J Biol Chem. 2006, 281: 16530-16535.
- 36. Bastiaens PI, Majoul IV, Verveer PJ, Soling HD, Jovin TM. Imaging the intracellular trafficking and state of the AB5 quaternary structure of cholera toxin. *EMBO J.* 1996, 15: 4246-4253
- 37. Betts L, Xiang S, Short SA, Wolfenden R, Carter CW Jr. Cytidine deaminse. The
  2.3 A crystal structure of an enzyme: transition-state analog complex. J Mol Biol.
  1994, 235(2): 635-656

# **CHAPTER 3**

# *In vitro* Study on activity of human ADAR3 deaminase domain

This work was done collaborating with Edyta Sieminska.

#### INTRODUCTION

RNA transcripts undergo various maturation processes including 5' capping, 3' processing and polyadenylation, splicing and editing. Deamination reactions on either adenosine or cytidine are involved in the editing process. Particular adenosine (A) residues in RNA transcripts are deaminated to be converted to inosine (I), which are recognized by the ribosome and other processing enzymes as guanosine (G). Such A-to-I conversions occurring in the coding regions of RNA transcripts can alter the original coding information of DNA, for example, the editing occurring on the glutamate receptor subunit B pre-mRNA changes a glutamine (Q) to an arginine (R), which is located in the loop forming the channel pore (1, 2) and editing processes on the pre-mRNA of one subtype of serotonin receptor,  $5-HT_{2C}R$ , alter multiple codons (3, 4).

An enzyme family, ADAR (<u>A</u>denosine <u>D</u>e<u>a</u>minase that act on <u>R</u>NA), has been shown to catalyze the A-to-I deamination reaction. ADAR activity was first discovered in *Xenopus laevis* (5-7) and since then different ADAR proteins have been cloned and characterized in many metazoa including mammals (8-12). Three ADAR genes have been identified in humans, ADAR1 (13), ADAR2 (14-16), and ADAR3 (17). All of the three human ADAR proteins have a similar domain structure, two or three double-stranded RNA binding domains (dsRBD) at the N-terminus and a deaminase domain, at the C-terminus (Figure 3-1).

The C-terminal deaminase domain is the catalytic domain of ADAR proteins and is conserved among ADARs. The X-ray structure at 1.7 Å resolution of the deaminase



**Figure 3-1.** Domain structure of human ADAR proteins. Green box: Z-DNA binding domain; Dark blue box: double-stranded RNA binding domain (dsRBD); Red box: arginine-rich domain; Light blue box: deaminase domain; Yellow region: linker.

domain of human ADAR2 has been reported (Figure 3-2A) (18). The catalytic domain adopts a roughly spherical structure ~ 40 Å in diameter. The active site is indicated by a zinc ion coordinated by H394, C451, C516 and a water molecule bound to E396 by hydrogen bonding (Figure 3-2B). The bound water molecule is thought to displace ammonia during the deamination reaction. The location of the active site is in a deep pocket and surrounded by positive electrostatic potential, which probably serves as a binding site of RNA substrates. This deep location of the active site is consistent with the idea that ADARs may use a base-flipping mechanism to expose the C6 of the adenosine for reaction. Interestingly, an IP<sub>6</sub> molecule is found to be buried deep in an extremely basic cavity formed by many arginine and lysine residues at one side of the structure. IP<sub>6</sub> is an abundant inositol polyphosphate involved in multiple cellular functions including RNA export, DNA repair, chromatin remodeling and endocytosis (19-23) and it is reported to affect AMPA receptors, the coding mRNAs of which are substrates of ADAR2 (24). It has been shown that IP<sub>6</sub> is required for ADAR2 activity and is buried in the cavity during the folding of the domain. Thus,  $IP_6$  may play an important role in the folding process of the catalytic domain.



Figure 3-2. The X-ray structure of the catalytic domain of human ADAR2. (A) The ribbon model of the catalytic domain of human ADAR2. (B) Residue interactions at the active site. Zinc ion, coordinating residues (H394, E396, C451, C516) and the nucleophilic water are shown.

Among the three members of human ADAR family, ADAR1 and ADAR2 have been well characterized and ADAR3 is the most recent ADAR gene to be identified. Unlike ADAR1 and ADAR2, ADAR3 was shown to be able to bind known substrates of ADAR1 and ADAR2 but was reported to have no editing activity (17). As mentioned above, ADAR3 has a conserved C-terminal deaminase domain. The primary sequence alignment of the deaminase domains of ADAR1, ADAR2 and ADAR3 (Figure 3-3) shows that ADAR3 deaminase domain contains all the residues forming the catalytic center and coordinating the IP<sub>6</sub> molecule, which means that ADAR3 deaminase domain can be catalytically active.

To test the activity of ADAR3 deaminase domain *in vitro*, we cloned, over-expressed and purified the ADAR3 deaminase domain protein from human HEK

293 cells and conducted editing experiments. Meanwhile, to primarily understand the

question that whether ADAR3 N-terminal domains affect its activity, we conducted

an experiment to fuse ADAR2 N-terminal domains with ADAR3 deaminase domain

and test the fusion protein's activity in vitro.

hADAR1 528 LLSRSPEAQP KTLPLTGSTF HDQIAMLSHR CFNTLTNSFQ PSLLGRKILA AIIMKKDSED hadar2 304 TPSR QP I PSE GLOLHLPQVL ADAVSRLVLG KEGDLTDNES SPHARRKVLA GVVMTTGTDV hadar3 342 IQMPGHAPGR ARRTPMPQEF ADSISQLVTQ KFREVTTDLT PMHARHKALA GIVMTKGLDA hadarı 586 - MQVVVSLQT QNRCVKQDSL SLKQETVNDC HAELISRRQF IRFLYSELMK YNSQT---AK hadarı 364 Kdakvisvst QTKCINGEYM Sdrglalndc Haelisrrsl Lrflytqlel ylnnk-ddqk hadarı 402 RQAQVVALSS QTKCISQEHL SDQQLVVNDC HAEVVARRAF LHFLYTQLEL HLSKRREDSE hadari642 DSIFEPAKGG EKLQIKKTVS FHLYISTAPCgdgalfdksc sdramestes Rhypvfenpkhadari423 RSIFOKSERG G-FRLKENVQ FHLYISTSPCgdarifsp-- Hepileepad Rhp---NRKAhadari462 RSIFVRLKEG G-YRLRENIL FHLYVSTSPCgdarlhsp-- Yeittdlhss Khl---VRKF hadari 702 qgklrtkven gegtipvess divptwdgir lgerlrtmsc sokilrwnvl glqgallthf hadar2 477 ROQLATKIES GEGTIPVASN ASIQTWOGVL QGEALLTWSC SOK ARWNVV GIQGSLLSIF hADAR3 516 RGHLRTKIES GEGTVPVRGP SAVQTWDGVL LGEQLITMSC TOKIARWWVL GLQGALLSHF hadari 782 LQPIYLKSVT LQYLFSQGHL TRAICCRVTR DQSAFEDGLR HPFIVNHPKV GRVSIYDSKR hadar2 537 VEPIYFSSII LQSLYHQDHL SRAWYQRISN ----IEDLP PLYTLNKPLL SQISNAEARhADAR3 576 VEPVYLQSIV VQSLHHTQHL ARVMSHRMEG -----VQQLP ASYRHNRPLL SQVSDAEARhADARI 822 QSQKTKETSV NWCLADQYDL EILDQTRQTV DQPRNELSRV SKKNIFLLFK KLCSFRYRRD hadar2 591 QPGKAPNFSV NWTVGD-SAI EVINATTGKD ELGRA--SRL CKHALYCRWN RVHG-KVPSH hadar3 630 QPGKSPPFSM NWVVGS-ADL EIINATTGRR SCGGP--SRL CKHVLSARWA RLYG-RLSTR hADAR2 647 LLRSKITKPN VYHESKLAAK EYDAAKARLF TAFIKAGLGA WVEKPTEQDQ FSLTP-HADAR3 686 TP-SPODTPS MYCEAKLOAH TYQSVKDQLF KAFQKAGLOT WVRKPPEQQQ FLLTL-

**Figure 3-3.** Sequence alignment of deaminase domains of human ADAR1, ADAR2 and ADAR3. Amino acid numbers are indicated at left. Red boxes: residues forming the catalytic center. Blue boxes: residues coordinating IP<sub>6</sub> molecule.

#### **EXPERIMENTAL METHODS**

#### **Construction of fusion protein, ADAR2/3**

The ADAR2/3 fusion was constructed by fusing residues 1-298 of ADAR2 with

residues 342-739 of ADAR3. The fused ADAR2/3 DNA was cloned into mammalian

expression vector, p3XFLAG-CMV<sup>™</sup>-10 (Sigma), using Nhe I and BamH I sites.

Primers used are listed as below:

ADAR2 1-298 F	5'-GCGCGCTCTAGAATGGATATAGAAGATGAAGAA-3'
ADAR2/ADAR3 1-298 R	5'-GCCGGGCATCTGGATGTTAAAAATGGCGGCCAG-3'
ADAR2/ADAR3 342-739 F	5'-CTGGCCGCCATTTTTAACATCCAGATGCCCGGC-3'
ADAR3 342-739 R	5'-GCGCGGATCCCTAGAGAGTCAGTAGA-3'

#### Cloning ADAR3 deaminase domain into p3XFLAG-CMV<sup>™</sup>-10 vector

The ADAR3 deaminase domain DNA was amplified from the ADAR3 gene and cloned into mammalian expression vector, p3XFLAG-CMV<sup>™</sup>-10 (Sigma), using Hind

III and Xba I. Primers are listed below:

ADAR3 Deaminase Forward	5'-GCAAAAGCTTATCCAGATGCCCGGCCAC-3'
ADAR3 Deaminase Reverse	5'-GCGCGTTCTAGACTAGAGAGTCAGTAGAAACTGC-3'

#### **Cell culture**

Human HEK 293 cells were used for protein expression and purification. HEK 293 cells were cultured as a monolayer in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### Protein expression and purification

ADAR2/3 and ADAR3 deaminase domain DNA were cloned into the  $p3XFLAG-CMV^{TM}-10$  vector for over-expression. Cells were plated in 10 cm tissue

culture dishes and transiently transfected with 8  $\mu$ g plasmid DNA using Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol and harvested 24 hours post-transfection. Cells were incubated in 500  $\mu$ l lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, 750 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton-X100, pH 7.4) for 30 min and centrifuged for 10 min at 150,000 g. The supernatant was then incubated with 20  $\mu$ l ANTI-FLAG<sup>®</sup> M2 affinity gel (Invitrogen) (treated following manufacturer's protocol) for 2 hours and centrifuged for 30 sec at 8,000 g and the supernatant was discarded. The tagged protein was eluted by incubating the gel with 40  $\mu$ l wash buffer (50 mM Tris, 750 mM NaCl, pH 7.4) with 150 ng/ $\mu$ l 3 X FLAG peptide for 30 min and centrifuged for 1 min at 8,000 g.

To create stable cell lines expressing recombinant proteins, cells were plated and transfected as described above. 200 µl G418 disulfate salt solution (50 mg/ml) was added into the medium 24 hours post-transfection. The medium containing G418 was changed every 3-4 days for two weeks. Single colonies of cells were plated in 10 cm tissue culture dishes separately to examine the expression level of recombinant proteins.

#### **RNA** synthesis

Templates for the 78 nucleotide R/G pre-mRNA were generated by PCR from a substrate cloned into the pBS vector (Stratagene).  $[\alpha^{-32}P]$  body-labeled 78 nucleotide R/G pre-mRNA was generated in a 25 µL transcription carried out in transcription buffer containing 40 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 6 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 100 mM NaCl, 10 mM DTT, 2 mM spermidine, 500  $\mu$ M of each UTP, CTP and GTP, 15  $\mu$ M of ATP, 1 U/mL of RNase Out (Invitrogen), 100  $\mu$ Ci  $\alpha$ -<sup>32</sup>ATP (Perkin Elmer), 0.1  $\mu$ M DNA template and 2 U of T7 RNA polymerase (Invitrogen). Transcriptions were incubated at 37°C for 4 hours.

#### Editing assay

Editing reactions were carried out in 20 mM Hepes pH 8.0, 100 mM KCl, 0.5 mM DTT, 20% glycerol, 0.01% Nonidet P-40. RNA substrate (0.5 nM) was incubated with 10 pmol of each protein was used in the experiments. The substrate RNA was denatured at 80°C for 2 min and allowed to renature at room temperature for 30 min just prior to addition to the editing reactions. The reactions were quenched by extraction with phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) and then with chloroform followed by ethanol precipitation. The pellet was resuspended in 19  $\mu$ l of double distilled water and digested with addition of 1  $\mu$ l Nuclease P1 (1  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l), and the products were resolved by thin layer chromatography (saturated  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ : 0.1 M NaOAc: isopropanol; 79:19:2, v/v) using cellulose-polyethyleneimine chromatography plates. The TLC plates were exposed to a Molecular Dynamics Phosphor screen which was then scanned using a Molecular Dynamics Storm 860 PhosphorImager. The extent of editing was quantified using ImageQuant 5.0 software.

#### 1. Over-expression of human ADAR3 deaminase domain and ADAR2/3

The deaminase domain of ADAR3 (ADAR3D) and fusion protein, ADAR2/3, were cloned into p3XFLAG-CMV<sup>™</sup>-10 vector, over-expressed and purified from human HEK 293 cells (Figure 3-4).



**Figure 3-4.** Over-expression of human ADAR3 deaminase domain and fusion protein ADAR2/3 in HEK 293 cells. The purified ADAR3 deaminase protein and ADAR2/3 fusion protein were run in 10% SDS-PAGE and stained with Brilliant Blue G-Colloidal (Sigma). The protein bands of correct size are indicated by red boxes. Lane 1: ADAR2 (76 KD). Lane 2: ADAR2/3 (76 KD). Lane 3: ADAR3 deaminase domain (44 KD). Molecular weight is indicated at left.

#### 2. In vitro activity assay of ADAR3 deaminase domain and ADAR2/3

An *in vitro* activity assay of human ADAR3 deaminase domain and ADAR2/3 purified from human HEK 293 cells on 78-nucleotide R/G substrate (Figure 3-5) was performed (Figure 3-6). An activity assay of full-length ADAR2 purified from yeast (Sieminska, E., Schellenberg M., MacMillan, A.M., unpublished results) was performed at the same time as a control (Figure 3-6). The full-length ADAR2 exhibits

an editing efficiency of 4.8% on the substrate. ADAR3 deaminase domain and the fusion protein, ADAR2/3, exhibit little editing efficiency if any.

Figure 3-5. 78-nucleotide R/G substrate. The editing adenosine is labelled as red.



**Figure 3-6.** Editing assay of ADAR2/3 and ADAR3 deaminase protein. Lane 1: no protein control. Lane 2: full-length ADAR2. Lane 3: ADAR2/3 fusion protein. Lane 4: ADAR3 deaminase.

#### DISCUSSION

ADAR3 is a very special member of the human ADAR family. Although it has a similar domain structure to ADAR1 and ADAR2, it has been reported to be inactive on known substrates. However, the sequence alignment of the C-terminal catalytic domain, the deaminase domain, of ADAR1, ADAR2 and ADAR3 shows that ADAR3 deaminase domain contains all the residues that form the catalytic center and coordinate an  $IP_6$  molecule. The SAXS (small angle X-ray scattering) models of the

deaminase domains of ADAR2 and ADAR3 (Sieminska, E., Schellenberg, M., MacMillan, A.M., unpublished data) show that the deaminase domains of ADAR2 and ADAR3 adapt similar tertiary structure (Figure 3-6), suggesting that ADAR3 deaminase domain may be catalytically active. The structural features that make ADAR3 act differently from ADAR1 and ADAR2 may not reside in the deaminase domain. Compared to ADAR2, ADAR3 has an arginine-rich domain at the N-terminus, which was suggested to be responsible for binding to single-stranded RNA (17). Our in vitro editing assay shows that ADAR3 deaminase domain did have little activity on a known ADAR substrate (R/G substrate) compared to that of full-length ADAR2, which suggests that the N-terminal domains are important for editing activity of ADARs. The fusion protein, ADAR2/3, exhibited a better editing activity than that of ADAR3 deaminase domain, but again lower than that of full-length ADAR2. Thus, although ADAR3 deaminase domain has all the conserved residues of the catalytic center and the binding to IP<sub>6</sub> molecule, somehow it is different from ADAR2 deaminase domain because the replacement of ADAR3 N-terminus with ADAR2 N-terminus did not make the fusion protein, ADAR2/3, act the same as full-length ADAR2. It is still unclear which N-terminal domains affect ADAR3's activity and specificity that make the protein different from ADAR1 and ADAR2. To get the crystal or SAXS structure of full-length ADAR3 will help to answer such question. Although the SAXS data of ADAR2 deaminase domain and ADAR3 deaminase domain showed that they adopted similar tertiary structure, the editing assay results of ADAR2 and ADAR2/3 indicate the two deaminase domains

do not act exactly the same, suggesting that there are some other important residues outside the conserved catalytic center and  $IP_6$  binding motif affecting the activity and specificity of ADAR.



Figure 3-7. SAXS model of deaminase domains of ADAR2 and ADAR3. A. ADAR2 deaminase domain. B. ADAR3 deaminase domain.
## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Higuchi M, Single FN, Köhler M, Sommer B, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH. RNA editing of AMPA receptor subunit GluR-B: a base-paired intron-exon structure determines position and efficiency. *Cell* 1993, 75: 1361-1370
- Seeburg PH, Hartner J. Regulation of ion channel/neurotransmitter receptor function by RNA editing. Curr. Opin, Neurobiol. 2003, 13: 279-283
- Burns, CM, Chu H, Rueter SM, Hutchinson LK, Canton H, Sanders-Bush E, Emeson RB. Regulation of serotonin-2C receptor G-protein coupling by RNA editing. Nature 1997, 387: 303-308
- Niswender CM, Sanders-Bush E, Emeson RB. Identification and characterization of RNA editing events within the 5-HT2C receptor. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 1998, 861: 38-48
- 5. Rebagliati MR, Melton RA. Antisense RNA injections in fertilized frog eggs reveal an RNA duplex unwinding activity. Cell 1987, 48: 599-605
- Bass BL, Weintraub H. A developmentally regulated activity that unwinds RNA duplexes. Cell 1987, 48: 607-613
- Bass BL, Weintraub H. An unwinding activity that covalently modifies its double-stranded RNA substrate. Cell 1988, 55: 1089-1098
- Herbert A, Lowenhaupt K, Spitzner J, Rich A. Chicken double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase has apparent specificity for Z-DNA. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 1995, 92: 7550-7554

- 9. Hough RF, Bass BL. Analysis of Xenopus dsRNA adenosine deaminase cDNAs reveals similarities to DNA methyltransferases. RNA 1997, 3: 356-370
- 10. Slavov D, Clark M, Gardiner K. Comparative analysis of the RED1 and RED2 A-to-I RNA editing genes from mammals, pufferfish and zebrafish. Gene 2000, 250: 41-51
- Slavov D, Crnogorac-Jurcević T, Clark M, Gardiner K. Comparative analysis of the DRADA A-to-I RNA editing genes from mammals, pufferfish and zebrafish. Gene 2000, 250: 53-60
- 12. Palladino MJ, Keegan LP, O'Connell MA, Reenan RA. dADAR, a Drosophila double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase is highly developmentally regulated and is itself a target for RNA editing. RNA 2000,
  6: 1004-1018
- 13. Kim, U, Wang Y, Sanford T, Zeng Y, Nishikura, K. Molecular cloning of cDNA for double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase, a candidate enzyme for nuclear RNA editing. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 1994, 91: 11457-11461
- 14. Melcher T, Maas S, Herb A, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH, Higuchi M. A
   mammalian RNA editing enzyme. Nature 1996, 379: 460-464
- 15. Lai F, Chen CX, Carter KC, Nishikura K. Editing of glutamate receptor B subunit ion channel RNAs by four alternatively spliced DRADA2 double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminases. Mol. Cell. Biol. 1997, 17: 2413-2424

- 16. Gerber A, O'Connell, MA, Keller W. Two forms of human double-stranded
  RNA-specific editase 1 (hRED 1) generated by the insertion of an Alu cassette.
  RNA. 1997, 3: 453-463
- 17. Chen CX, Cho DS, Wang Q, Lai F, Carter KC, Nishikura K. A third member of the RNA-specific adenosine deaminase gene family, ADAR3, contains both single- and double-stranded RNA binding domains. RNA. 2000, 6: 755-767
- Macbeth MR, Schubert HL, VanDemark AP, Lingam AT, Hill CP, Bass BL.
   Inositol hexakisphosphate is bound in the ADAR2 core and required for RNA editing. Science 2005, 309: 1534-1539
- 19. York JD, Odom AR, Murphy R, Ives EB, Wente SR. A phospholipase
   C-dependent inositol polyphosphate kinase pathway required for efficient
   messenger RNA export. Science 1999, 285: 96-100
- 20. Hanakahi LA, West SC. Specific interaction of IP6 with human Ku70/80, the DNA-binding subunit of DNA-PK. *EMBO J.* 2002, 21: 2038-2044
- 21. Hoy M, Efanov AM, Bertorello AM, Zaitsev SV, Olsen HL, Bokvist K, Leibiger B, Leibiger IB, Zwiller J, Berggren PO, Gromada J. Inositol hexakisphosphate promotes dynamin I-mediated endocytosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2002, 99: 6773-6777
- 22. Shen X, Xiao H, Ranallo R, Wu WH, Wu C. Modulation of ATP-dependent chromatin-remodeling complexes by inositol polyphosphates. Science 2003, 299: 112-114
- 23. Steger DJ, Haswell ES, Miller AL, Wente SR, O'Shea EK. Regulation of

chromatin remodeling by inositol polyphosphates. Science 2003, 299: 114-116

- 24. Valastro B, Girard M, Gagne J, Martin F, Parent AT, Baudry M, Massicotte G.
  Inositol hexakisphosphate-mediated regulation of glutamate receptors in rat
  brain sections. *Hippocampus*. 2001, 11: 673-682
- 25. Polson AG, Bass BL. Preferential selection of adenosine for modification by double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase. *EMBO J.* 1994, 13: 5701-5711
- 26. Lehmann KA, Bass BL. Double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase ADAR1 and ADAR2 have overlapping specificities. *Biochemistry*. 2000, 39: 12875-12884
- 27. Polson AG, Bass BL, Casey JL. RNA editing of hepatitis delta virus antigenome by dsRNA-adenosine deaminase. *Nature*. 1996, 380: 454-456
- 28. Sato S, Wong SK, Lazinski DW. Hepatitis delta virus minimal substrates competent for editing by ADAR1 and ADAR2. J Virol. 2001, 75: 8547-8555
- 29. Ohman M, Källman AM, Bass BL. In vitro analysis of the binding of ADAR2 to the pre-mRNA encoding the GluR-B R/G site. RNA. 2000, 6: 687-697
- 30. Stephens OM, Yi-Brunozzi HY, Beal PA. Analysis of the RNA-editing reation of ADAR2 with structural and fluorescent analogues of the GluR-B R/G editing site. *Biochemistry*. 2000, 39: 12243-12251
- 31. Lai F, Drakas R, Nishikura K. Mutagenic analysis of double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase, a candidate enzyme for RNA editing of

glutamate-gated ion channel transcripts. J Biol Chem. 1995, 270: 17098-17105

- 32. Stefl R, Xu M, Skrisovska L, Emeson RB, Allain FH. Structure and specific RNA binding of ADAR2 double-stranded RNA binding motifs. Structure.
  2006, 14: 345-355
- 33. Polson AG, Bass BL. Preferential selection of adenosines for modification by
   double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase. *EMBO J.* 1994, 13: 5701-5711
- 34. Macbeth MR, Schubert HL, VanDemark AP, Lingam AT, Hill CP, Bass BL.
   Inositol hexakisphosphate is bound in the ADAR2 core and required for RNA editing. Science 2005, 309: 1534-1539
- 35. Wong SK, Sato S, Lazinski DW. Substrate recognition by ADAR1 and ADAR2. RNA. 2001, 7: 846-858